**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 15 2015

Appellate Case No. 2014-002513

SC SUPREME COURT

Richard Stogsdill,.....Petitioner,

v.

South Carolina Department of
Health and Human Services,.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Patricia Logan Harrison, Esquire
611 Holly St.
Columbia, SC 29205
803-256-2017
Attorney for Petitioner

I.

Introduction

The South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) has not promulgated a regulation since 1986. R. 730. The consequences of this lack of legislative involvement are too clearly documented in audits and investigations of DDSN that have reported repeated flagrant violations of state and federal laws, not to mention the unfettered growth of a system that has totally abdicated its duty to spend funds for the purposes appropriated by the General Assembly, while failing to protect the health and safety of South Carolina's most vulnerable citizens.¹ As a matter of public policy, courts have a special duty to zealously protect the rights of parties who are under a disability. Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 69 (1999). See *Joiner v. Rivas*, 335 S.C. 648, 518 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 1999).

IV.

Statement of Issue

Have the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and its agent, the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN), violated the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (APA) by establishing binding norms for the Medicaid program without promulgating those rules as regulations?

V.

Statement of the Case

Petitioner, Richard Stogsdill (hereinafter "Richard"), receives Medicaid services through

¹ *Unequal Justice for South Carolinians with Disabilities: Abuse and Neglect Investigations* by Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. Dated October 2005 at R. 486; *Review of the MR/RD Medicaid Waiver as Operated by the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs* by DHHS dated February 28, 2006 at 434; *A Review of the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs* by the South Carolina Legislative Audit Council dated December 2008 at R. 641. Results of audits and investigations that have been issued by reliable government entities since 2009 are not contained in the Record, but this Court may take judicial notice of similar subsequent reports, which will be provided by Petitioner if the Court determines it appropriate to take judicial notice of those reports issued after 2009.

a program designed to prevent institutionalization of persons who have mental retardation or a related disability.”² To qualify for the program, participants must meet “level of care” requirements entitling them to choose instead to receive Medicaid-funded services in an ICF/MR, which is an institution funded by DDSN and DHHS providing 24-hour care, supervision, counseling, recreation and other activities to persons who have mental retardation or a related disability. R. 491. Richard first initiated an administrative appeal on February 13, 2009 after the burden of providing care during the school day fell to his working parents when he graduated from high school. R. 306 and 947. A DHHS hearing officer issued an interlocutory order, remanding Richard’s case back to DDSN on November 16, 2009 to determine the number of hours he required, with orders that DDSN must take into consideration the orders of Richard’s physician. R. 31. On January 1, 2010, DDSN implemented an amendment to the MR/RD Medicaid waiver³ which, for the first time, imposed service limits, or “caps” on some services in

² It is uncontested in this case that Richard is a person who has a “related disability” and qualifies for the ID/RD Medicaid waiver program. S.C.Code § 44-20-30(15) defines a “related disability” as a severe, chronic condition found to be closely related to intellectual disability or to require treatment similar to that required for persons with intellectual disability and must meet the following conditions:

- (a) It is attributable to cerebral palsy, epilepsy, autism, or any other condition other than mental illness found to be closely related to intellectual disability because this condition results in impairment of general intellectual functioning or adaptive behavior similar to that of persons with intellectual disability and requires treatment or services similar to those required for these persons.
- (b) It is manifested before twenty-two years of age.
- (c) It is likely to continue indefinitely.
- (d) It results in substantial functional limitations in three or more of the following areas of major life activity: self-care, understanding and use of language, learning, mobility, self-direction, and capacity for independent living.

³ The name of this program has changed since Richard’s appeal was initiated to “ID/RD” and the term “mental retardation” has been replaced with “intellectual disabilities,” but the definition of the terms have not changed.

the waiver, and eliminated other services. R. 292. Richard and nine other affected Medicaid waiver applicants filed a Petition asking this Court to hear their objections to the planned reductions in its original jurisdiction. R. 337. That Petition was denied and Richard proceeded with his “fair hearing” appeal. In 2012, with his appeal not resolved after three years in the Executive Branch, Richard filed a lawsuit in federal district court, but his federal claims were later dismissed on abstention grounds.⁴

DDSN did not conduct the assessment of Richard’s needs, as had been ordered by the DHHS hearing officer, but proceeded instead to apply the new waiver caps to Richard and other waiver participants. R. 335. In order to prevent his services from being reduced pursuant to the waiver amendment, on December 30, 2009, Richard was forced to file a second administrative appeal requesting reconsideration by the Director of DDSN. R. 943. DDSN denied Richard’s request for reconsideration on January 12, 2010, finding that “These approved limits cannot be exceeded and must be applied to all MR/RD Waiver participants.” R. 940. On February 11, 2010, Richard appealed DDSN’s decision to the DHHS Office of Hearings and Appeals. R. 938-939.

A hearing was held on May 11, 2010. R. 263 to 334. The DHHS hearing officer, Jeff Bryson, issued an Order on September 14, 2010, finding that Respondent acted lawfully in

⁴ With his administrative appeal still pending in the Executive Branch, Richard and a HASCI waiver participant filed a lawsuit in the federal district court on January 1, 2012, alleging violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and various provisions of the Medicaid Act. *Stogsdill et. al. v. Sebelius*, Civil Case No. 3:12-cv-00007 (D.C.S.C.). In this federal action, Richard alleged violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (hereinafter referred to as the “ADA”), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (hereinafter referred to as “Section 504”), the Medicaid Act, the Administrative Procedures Act of the State of South Carolina and both the Supremacy and Due Process Clauses of the United States Constitution. Richard was dismissed from that lawsuit by order dated November 10, 2014. *Stogsdill v. Keck*, 3:12-cv-00007.

implementing the January 1, 2010 caps and in terminating or reducing other services. Richard appealed that decision to the Administrative Law Court on October 20, 2010. R. 933. On March 13, 2013, the Administrative Law Court issued an order finding that DHHS had the statutory authority and to enter into an agreement with CMS to amend the waiver document and that it “properly exercised their authority to amend the waiver...” R. 9. Richard filed a timely appeal of this Order to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on April 9, 2013. R. 2. The Court of Appeals granted the Petition filed by Protection and Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc, South Carolina Legal Services, the South Carolina Chapter of the National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys and South Carolina Appleseed Legal Justice Center to file an amicus brief. R. 975 and 1409.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an order on September 10, 2014, ruling that (1) DDSN established a binding norm by reducing the types and amount of services offered under the Waiver, but did not have to promulgate a regulation to enforce that rule, because the changes were approved by the federal Medicaid agency, (2) Richard was not prejudiced by Respondent’s inadequate notice, and that (3) Richard is at risk of institutionalization and that the State could accommodate his needs without fundamentally altering its programs. R. 948.

Stogsdill v. DHHS, Opinion No. 5271 (S.C.Ct.App. September 10, 2014). In its order, the Court of Appeals Court remanded Richard’s case back to DDSN “for consideration of the appropriate services to be provided without the reductions of the 2010 Waiver.”⁵ Id. at 959. Both parties filed motions for rehearing. R. 1061 and 1175. In his Petition for Rehearing, Richard argued that

⁵ This Court may take judicial notice that no order on remand has been issued by DDSN or DHHS.

the lower Court's reliance on *Arrowood* was in error and that Respondent violated the Administrative Procedures Act by failing to promulgate the reductions in services as regulations. R. 1077. *Arrowood v. North Carolina Dept. of Health and Human Services*, 353 N.C. 352, 543 S.E.2d 481 (N.C. 2001). The Court of Appeals denied both the Respondent's and the Appellant's Petitions for Rehearing. R. 961 and 963.

Respondent did not appeal the Court of Appeals' ruling finding that applying the 2010 caps to Richard's services violated the Americans with Disabilities Act. This Court may take judicial notice that no order has been issued by DDSN or DHHS on remand from that Court.

Richard Petitioned for Certiorari, which was granted in part by this Court on April 9, 2015.

VI. Standard of Review

In a case raising a novel question of law regarding the interpretation of a statute, the appellate court is free to decide the question *de novo*, with no particular deference to the lower court. *Sloan v. South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy Examiners*, 370 S.C. 452, 636 S.E.2d 598 (2006). This Court is "free to decide the question based on its assessment of which interpretation and reasoning would best comport with the law and public policies of this state and the Court's sense of law, justice, and right." *Croft v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 365 S.C. 402, 408, 618 S.E.2d 909, 912 (2005); *Antley v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 139 S.C. 23, 30, 137 S.E. 199, 201 (1927) ("In [a] state of conflict between the decisions, it is up to the court to 'choose ye this day whom ye will serve'; and, in the duty of this decision, the court has the right to determine which doctrine best appeals to its sense of law, justice, and right.")

VII.

Statement of Facts

A. The Medicaid Waiver Program. Medicaid is a joint program through which the federal government provides financial assistance to states to furnish medical care to needy individuals. *Doe v. DHHS*, 398 S.C. 62, 64, S.E.2d 605 (2011), citing *Wilder v. Virginia Hosp. Assoc.*, 496 U.S. 498 (1990). Participation in the Medicaid waiver program is voluntary; however, any state that elects to participate “must comply with all requirements imposed by the Medicaid Act and related regulations.” *Id.*

B. The State Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). DHHS was established by the statute contained at S.C. Code § 44-6-10. DHHS has been charged by the General Assembly with the responsibility for administering all Medicaid funds and Medicaid programs in the State. S.C. Code § 44-6-10 and 30. That agency is headed by a Director appointed by the Governor, and it is the “single largest employer in the state...” S.C. Code § 44-6-132(4). DHHS contracts with DDSN to operate programs that provide an alternative to more costly institutional services for persons who have Intellectual Disabilities (formerly called “Mental Retardation”) and Related Disabilities, as described in the DHHS audit of DDSN at R. 435.

DDSN is the second largest recipient of DHHS’ funds, behind hospital services. R. 668. During FY 08, DDSN’s budget was \$490,782,746, up from \$450,866,073 in FY 07. R. 668 and 669. The cost of the MR/RD Medicaid waiver program has grown from \$180,505,914 in 2004 (R. 228) to \$278,662,353 in 2010 (as projected in November 2009), with the cost of the program projected to reach \$398,815,700 in 2015. R. 75 and 893. Richard is a “medically indigent” person, as defined in 66-6-5(5), who receives Medicaid services that are administered by DHHS

under this contract with DDSN, due to his “related disabilities” of severe cerebral palsy and epilepsy.

DHHS is responsible for (1) preparing and state and federal Medicaid plans prior to submission to the federal Medicaid Agency, CMS, and for state and federal funding. S.C. Code of Laws § 44-6-40(1). In delivering Medicaid services to citizens of South Carolina, the General Assembly has directed DHHS to be guided by the goal of delivering services “in the most effective and efficient ways possible.” Id. DHHS is obligated by statute to compile and maintain information concerning all of the Medicaid programs it oversees and to continuously review and evaluate programs to determine the extent to which they meet fiscal, administrative, and program objectives; and to assure that these programs are being operated cost effectively. S.C. Code § 44-6-40(2) and (3). DHHS is obligated by statute to evaluate these Medicaid plans and programs “in terms of their compatibility with state objectives and priorities set forth in S.C. Code § 44-6-70. § 44-6-40(4). S.C. Code § 44-6-70 requires DHHS to give specific attention to prevention measures (a), achievement of optimum cost effectiveness in administration and delivery of services and to provide assurance of the quality of services delivered (e). The General Assembly has charged DHHS with the duty to assure the maximum utilization of private and non-profit providers in administration and service delivery systems. Id. at (f).

By statute, DHHS is charged with formulating “for consideration and promulgation criteria, standards, and procedures that ensure assigned programs are administered effectively, equitably, and economically and in accordance with statewide policies and priorities.” S.C. Code § 44-6-40(5). The Director of DHHS is obligated by statute to keep the Governor and the General Assembly informed as to the effectiveness of the criteria, standards, and promulgated procedures.

S.C. Code § 44-6-40(6).

Importantly, the General Assembly has directed DHHS to plan Medicaid services so as to achieve “a balanced health care delivery system assuring that regulations, coverage, and reimbursement policies assure that the most appropriate care is given, tailored to the client's needs, and delivered in the most cost-effective manner.” S.C. Code § 44-6-70. (Emphasis added.)

The Medicaid Act requires DHHS to assure the federal government that the State will provide “assurances” that its Medicaid waiver plan includes “necessary safeguards ... to protect the health and welfare of individuals” receiving home care. 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396n(c)(2)(A).⁶ The regulation interpreting that section requires the State to provide “Assurance that necessary safeguards have been taken to protect the health and welfare of the beneficiaries of the services.” 42 C.F.R. § 441.302. The Director of DHHS must provide these assurances in the Medicaid waiver application. R. 212 and 444. Repeated audits have documented the failure of DHHS and DDSN to assure the health, welfare and safety of waiver participants. R. 434, 487, 671.

The General Assembly has mandated that DHHS must submit to the Governor, the Budget and Control Board and to the General Assembly an annual report detailing improvements in the “cost effectiveness achieved...” through Medicaid programs and recommending changes

⁶ In *Wood v. Tompkins*, the Sixth Circuit held that “Secs. 1396n(c)(2) and 441.302 impose mandatory duties upon participating states. Such states must provide the various enumerated assurances in order to obtain a home care waiver.... there is nothing vague or amorphous about what the statute or corresponding regulations require of participating states. The duties set forth therein do not involve any fuzzy, undefined concepts like ‘reasonable efforts.’ Rather, these duties involve unambiguous directives that are well within the ability of the judiciary to enforce.” 33 F.3d 600 (6th Cir. 1994). At page 610 of that decision, the Sixth Circuit stated: “We find, rather, that Sec. 1396n(c)(2), and its corresponding regulation, Sec. 441.302, places the onus of compliance squarely upon participating states.”

for further improvements. S.C. Code § 44-6-80. The agency's budget is determined by the General Assembly based on these required reports and this Court may take judicial notice that these reports are presented to the General Assembly before the final State Budget is adopted at the end of the legislative session. The Court may also take judicial notice that the waiver amendments were enacted after the General Assembly adjourned in 2009 and before the start of the 2010 legislative session, without notice to or approval of the General Assembly.

The statute at S.C. Code § 44-6-90 grants DHHS the authority to promulgate regulations to carry out its duties. The General Assembly has charged the director of DHHS with the responsibility for assuring that "the department's business is conducted according to sound administrative practice. S.C. Code § 44-6-100. As required by the Medicaid Act, DHHS has established a "Medical Care Advisory Committee." 42 C.F.R. § 431.12. This "MCAC" is appointed by the agency to "advise the Medicaid agency about health and medical care services." *Id.* The MCAC "must have opportunity for participation in policy development and program administration, including furthering the participation of beneficiary members in the agency program," but its recommendations are purely advisory. 42 C.F.R. § 431.12(e). The proposed changes to the MR/RD Medicaid waiver amendment were first presented to the MCAC on May 19, 2009, at the end of the legislative session and they were first mentioned (but not fully explained) to the governing board of DDSN and local DSN Boards at the DDSN Commission meeting held on May 21, 2009. R. 833. See "Apology" at 914.

Regulations promulgated by DHHS are found in Chapter 12 of the South Carolina Code of Regulations, but there are few regulations related to the administration of the DDSN Medicaid waiver programs (although this is the second most expensive program DHHS operates. R. 668).

Subarticle 3 contains the regulations related to “fair hearings,” but that section provides little guidance about how these hearings are to be conducted, who has the burden of proof, what standard of proof is required or timeframes for holding a “fair hearing,” or issuing a final decision appealable to the judicial branch. As in Richard’s case, these “fair hearing” appeals frequently take years to reach the judicial branch. Reg. 126-380 requires DHHS to provide notice “pursuant to Title XIX of the Social Security Act” and to continue services pending a fair hearing decision “in accordance with Title XIX of the Social Security Act and the federal regulations promulgated in accordance therewith.” But, the State rarely issues a final decision after providing an evidentiary hearing within 90 days of the request for a hearing. *Shakhnes v. Berlin*, 689 F.3d 244 (2d Cir. 2012).

Reg. 126-425(A)(9) defines “Medically reasonable and necessary” as “procedures, treatments, medications or supplies ordered by a physician, dentist, chiropractor, mental health care provider, or other approved, licensed health care practitioner to identify or treat an illness or injury.” But DHHS allows DDSN to deny services ordered by physicians based on “assessments” by persons who have no medical training. R. 276-295. That regulation provides that these procedures, treatments, medications or supplies “must be administered in accordance with recognized and acceptable medical and/or surgical discipline at the time the patient receives the service and in the least costly setting required by the patients’ condition.” *Id.* Furthermore, it requires that “All services administered must be in compliance with the patient’s diagnosis, standards of care...” *Id.* Yet, the waiver amendment submitted to CMS in August of 2009 capped home based services while more than quadrupling the demand for ICF/MR waiver services that

are provided in the most costly and restrictive setting in the State's system.⁷ R. 891-894.

Reg. 126-304 requires DHHS to provide occupational therapy, physiotherapy, speech therapy services at home, but these home-based services were terminated from the MR/RD Medicaid waiver in 2010. R. 845. That section also requires DHHS to provide "personal care ...in the home provision of the necessary services of support of activities of daily living, home support, medical monitoring, and client transportation services to restore, maintain and promote health status.

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