**RECEIVED**

JUN 11 2015

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

**S.C. Supreme Court**

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

Case No. 2014-002513

Richard Stogsdill,

Petitioner,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and  
Human Services,

Respondent

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Richard G. Hepfer  
Deputy General Counsel  
South Carolina Department of Health  
and Human Services  
1801 Main Street  
P.O. Box 8206  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-8206  
Voice: (803) 898-2791  
Fax: (803) 255-8210  
Bar #3076  
Attorney for the Respondent

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

**Arguments:**

**The Department has the authority to administer the Medicaid Program in South Carolina; the waiver provisions were renewed correctly under the federal regulations and therefore should be enforceable:**

**Legislative authorization:** The Waiver document is a contract between the federal government and the State about what services the federal Medicaid Program will help pay for through the State's letter of credit at the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid. The waiver application must conform to the federal regulations at 42 CFR §440.300 et seq. The ability of the Department to negotiate with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid is consistent with the Department's enabling legislation, specifically at S.C. Code Ann. §§44-6-30, 40 & 70. It is also consistent with the federal regulations regarding the authority and independence of the single state agency that administers the Medicaid Program at 42 CFR §430.10. The Department is the duly designated single state agency for the administration of the Medicaid Program in South Carolina. 42 U.S.C. §1396 et. seq.; S.C. Code Ann. §44-6-10 et. seq.; and 42 CFR §431.10.

**Regulations:** The Department's regulations at S.C. Code R. 126-300(D) provide authority to make changes in the State's Medicaid Program. The regulation states:

D. Services are subject to limits and procedural requirements described in the South Carolina State Plan for Title XIX (Medicaid), provider manuals, Medicaid Bulletins, and federal directives.

The statutes, regulations, and caselaw above contemplate that Department will further specify the limits and procedural requirements of the Program. That further specificity is

not contrary to the cited statutes and regulations. Since the Department is charged, by statute with the administration of the Medicaid Program, some respect and consideration should be given to its interpretation of the rules governing the Program.

**Caselaw:** Furthermore, in Jane Doe v. SCDHHS, 398 S.C. 62, 727 S.E.2d 605 (2011) the SC Supreme Court indicated that waiver provisions are enforceable with respect to the administration of the waivers, even though they are distinguishable from promulgated regulations. See page 74 of the S. C. version. Footnote 7 of the opinion does say that a policy cannot contradict a regulation and in that posture should be given no effect, but we know of no contrary regulation or law specifying a different level of services than is set forth in the waiver document.

**Public Notice:** Federal rules issued on January 16, 2014, require a process of public comment for substantive changes to waivers and new waivers. The federal regulations are at 42 CFR §441.304

(e) The agency must provide public notice of any significant proposed change in its methods and standards for setting payment rates for services in accordance with § 447.205 of this chapter.

(f) The agency must establish and use a public input process, for any changes in the services or operations of the waiver.

(1) This process must be described fully in the State's waiver application and be sufficient in light of the scope of the changes proposed, to ensure meaningful opportunities for input for individuals served, or eligible to be served, in the waiver.

(2) This process must be completed at a minimum of 30 days prior to implementation of the proposed change or submission of the proposed change to CMS, whichever comes first.

(3) This process must be used for both existing waivers that have substantive changes proposed, either through the renewal or the amendment process, and new waivers.

(4) This process must include consultation with Federally-

recognized Tribes, and in accordance with section 5006(e) of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. 111-5), Indian health programs and Urban Indian Organizations.

**If the legislative, regulatory, case authority and due process safeguards are inadequate or of insufficient specificity, then the analysis in South Carolina should be based upon a consideration of whether all “binding norms” are such that they must be promulgated by regulations in order to be enforceable.**

The Respondent’s position has been that the requirements set by the waiver are well within the contemplation of the statutes set forth in the Department’s enabling legislation above, which tell the Department to: prepare, approve and submit the Medicaid State Plan to CMS for approval.

The Court of Appeals found instructive the North Carolina case of Arrowood v. North Carolina Department of Health & Human Services, 543 S.E. 2d 481 (N.C. App, 2001)(rev’g 535 S.E.2d 585 (N.C 2000)). In that case, the North Carolina Supreme Court reversed the holding of the superior court that a waiver involving the North Carolina welfare program had to be promulgated to be valid. In reversing, the Supreme Court adopted the dissent in the lower case that relied on the clarity of the waiver language and a contractual relationship between the parties. McCraun ex rel. McCraun v. Department of Health and Human Services, 704 S.E. 899 (N.C. App, 2011) has since distinguished the Arrowood cases due to the contractual relationship, but the other distinguishing factor was interpretation of the waiver language. As in the present case, the Arrowood involved a straightforward application of the waiver language. In the South Carolina waiver document, the limitations in services are set forth in actual number of hours, not subject

to interpretation.

Furthermore, in relying on Arrowood, the S. C. Court of Appeals focused on the effect of waivers on the overall statutory and regulatory operation of the State's Medicaid Program. As between the states and federal government, the parameters of Medicaid Programs are governed by the federal regulations. See primarily 42 CFR §430.0 through §456.725. Although there are other federal regulations throughout Title 42 and Title 45 of the federal regulations that may affect specific aspects of Medicaid Programs, the federal regulations following 42 CFR §430.0 are the core governing rules. Those regulations and the underlying federal statutes (§1902 et seq. of the Social Security Act [42 USC §1396a et seq.]) deal with the general administration of the program, fiscal management, eligibility, services covered, payment for those services, program integrity (fraud and abuse) and utilization control (eliminating unnecessary services).

Under 1902(a)(10)(A)(i) of the Social Security Act [42 USC §1396a(a)(10)], Medicaid Programs are required to cover certain categories of individuals, such as: pregnant women with incomes less than 133% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL); children between one and six years of age with family incomes up to 133% of the FPL; recipients of adoption assistance and foster care; individuals who are eligible for Supplemental Security Income (SSI); etc. In addition, under §1902(a)(10)(A)(ii) of the SSA [42 USC §1396a(a)(10)(A)(ii)] there are numerous optional eligibility categories, such as: non-institutionalized disabled children; institutionalized individuals under a special income limit; etc.

With respect to services under the Medicaid Program, states must provide certain mandatory services such as inpatient hospital services and physician services.

§1902(a)(10)(A) of the SSA [42 USC §1396a(a)(10)(A)] & §1905(a) [42 USC §1396d(a)]. Other services listed in §1905(a) not specifically made mandatory by §1902(a)(10)(A) are optional.

There are certain general requirements that apply to all services. For example, under 1902(a) (1) of the SSA [42 USC §1396a(a)(1)] and 42 CFR §431.50, services must be made available on a statewide basis. As another example, the federal statutes at §1902(a)(10)(B)[§1396a(a)(10)(B)] and regulations at 42 CFR §440.240(b) require that services available to any categorically eligible individual must be available to all categorically eligible individuals. This is called the “comparability” requirement.

Therefore, under the regular Medicaid Program, if a state wanted to offer personal care services (an optional service), those services would have to be available for all categorically eligible individuals. With a waiver, the state can ask the federal government to “waive” the comparability requirement (for example) so that personal care services need only be provided (targeted) to individuals who are disabled and would need care in an institution (as described in the waiver at issue here).

In its ruling on the Stogsdill case, the Court of Appeals was exactly correct in holding that “[t]his Waiver authority had the legal effect of superseding existing federal statutes that would not allow for [such] community-based services.” Stogsdill, at 280 & 642.

The McCraan case applies the North Carolina Administrative Procedures Act in a vacuum, ignoring the statutory and regulatory operation of the jointly administered federal-state Medicaid Program. The waivers are essentially modifications of the approved Title XIX (Medicaid) State Plans. The South Carolina General Assembly has unequivocally authorized the Department to prepare a State Plan for the Medicaid Program. From the Department's enabling statute:

**SECTION 44-6-30. Duties and limitations**

The department shall:

(1) administer Title XIX of the Social Security Act (Medicaid), including the Early Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment Program, and the Community Long-Term Care System;

**SECTION 44-6-40. Duties.**

For all health and human services interagency programs provided for in this chapter, the department shall have the following duties:

(1) Prepare and approve state and federal plans prior to submission to the appropriate authority as required by law for final approval or for state or federal funding, or both.

**SECTION 44-6-70. Preparation of state plan and resource allocation recommendations.**

A state plan must be prepared by the department for each program assigned to it and the department must also prepare resource allocation recommendations based on such plans. The resource allocation recommendations must be approved pursuant to state and federal law. The state plans must address state policy and priority areas of service with specific attention to the following objectives:

**Based on experience with several similar administrative cases, the waiver provisions were not treated as binding norms by the hearing officer in the initial hearing in this case, but the limitations on services were subjected to an evidentiary hearing as if the agency had the discretion to apply or not apply the limits expressed in the waiver document.**

In Corbett v. DHHS, 07-ALJ-08-0278-AP, 2008 WL 3863531, A waiver participant challenged the force and effect of waiver eligibility provisions as not having been promulgated as regulations in the State. The Department asserted that since the waiver provisions were approved by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS), the federal agency that administers the Medicaid Program, it did not have to be promulgated as a regulations in the State.

Relying on the description of “binding norm” in Home Health Services, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Commission, 312 S.C. 324, 440 S.E. 2d 375 (1994) and Sloan v. S.C. Board of Physical Therapy Examiners, 370 S.C. 452, 636 S.E. 2d 598 (2006), the ALJ ultimately rejected that assertion and found that CMS’ approval of the waiver did not make it a binding document. Although it did not have the force and effect of law, because it had not been promulgated, the agency treated the document as binding. In other words, the agency looked only to whether the policy’s criteria were met in order to make the eligibility decision.

Even though the document did not have the force and effect of law, and the Department treated the unpromulgated document as a binding norm, the ALJ upheld the agency decision because the Court gave due respect and consideration to the Department’s interpretation of federal law and that interpretation was not contrary to any State statute or regulations.

In Hickey v. SCDHHS, 10-ALJ-08-0656 (July 19, 2011) the ALC again found that provisions set forth in the Waiver could not be enforced as binding norms without a hearing because they had not been promulgated as regulations. In Hickey, one of the same provisions in issue in this (Stogsdill) case was at issue, the provision that limits personal care-type services to 28 hours per week. Since the Petitioner had been receiving 50 hours of personal care-type services prior to the January 1, 2010 waiver renewal, the DDSN sought to reduce the Petitioner's hours back to 28 per week without considering additional facts, but relying solely on a straight application of the waiver provision. The agency did not exercise any discretion or offer an evidentiary hearing.

Following Hickey, the ALC issued a similar decision in Edge v. SCDHHS, 10-ALC-08-0501 (November 9, 2011).

The briefs and the arguments in these cases may have made an impact on the DHHS hearing officers. Thus, by the time this case came up for processing, the Department's Appeals Division, which under S.C. Code R. 126-150, et seq., has the authority to issue the Department's final decision on agency matters, was not applying the waiver provisions without discretion, but was scheduling evidentiary hearings on the 2010 waiver reductions. The hearings were on appeals of DDSN staff decisions which were, admittedly applied without discretion as required by the waiver document and by contract. The hearing in this case was held on May 11, 2010. (R. 19).

**McCraun also did not consider the practical considerations in promulgating the waiver provisions, which in South Carolina is a long process which takes considerable advanced planning and does not work well with a process which involves frequent negotiated changes and various CMS interpretation of federal law.**

First of all, each of the waiver documents is over 150 pages long as is the basic State Plan. There are currently nine (9) waiver documents. The General Assembly gave the SCDHHS general authority to administer the Medicaid Program in South Carolina by developing the Medicaid State Plan in negotiation with CMS. S.C. Code Ann. §§44-6-30, 40 & 70. The State Plan and each document (nine waivers) by which the DHHS obtained approval to waive the State Plan requirements are 170 -180 pages long, involving every aspect of the waiver. That is too much detailed information to be in the State Regulations.

The federal government may require amendments to the waiver document at any time, as has happened to the waiver at issue at least once since originally approved. The waiver is at

<http://www1.scdhhs.gov/openpublic/insideDHHS/Bureaus/BureauofLongTermCareServices/Mental%20RetardationRelated%20Disability%20Waiver.asp>

If more specificity is required, the better practice would be to incorporate the document by reference, like other federal documents. Other State agencies administer programs in partnership with the federal government. The State enabling statutes do not require explicit regulations to be promulgated to detail the criteria for each program, but allow the agency to administer the program under the authority of the enabling statute.

The Department of Social Services, for example, administers the State Plan for Maternal and Child Welfare Funds, under an application (State Plan) submitted to the federal government.

**SECTION 43-1-110.** State Department may cooperate with Federal Government in administration of Federal Child Welfare Services.

The State Department may cooperate with the Federal Government, its agencies or instrumentalities, in the administration of Child Welfare Services as provided in Title V, Part 3, of the Federal Social Security Act relative to establishing, extending and strengthening services for the protection and care of homeless, dependent and neglected children and children in danger of becoming delinquent in predominantly rural areas and other areas of special need and may receive and expend all funds made available to the Department by the Federal Government, the State or its political subdivisions for such purposes.

McCran also is silent as to whether North Carolina has available a state depository library system. Under S. C. Code Ann. §60-2-10, et seq. (State Documents Depository) documents, such as the State Plan are publically available within the eleven (11) State Depository Libraries located throughout the State. Copies of agency documents can be obtained at these locations. This availability is in addition to the access to all of these documents available on the Department's website, at [www.scdhhs.gov](http://www.scdhhs.gov).